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  [10.18 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, good morning everyone.  Now by way of 

introduction for some of the people down the back who may not have 

caught up with the context of what this particular matter is about, when 5 

the Panel heard the subdivision stage 1 matters following that and the 

evidence heard it issued a minute which identified issues that the Panel 

saw in terms of the New Neighbourhood provisions and how they had 

evolved through different hearings, and raised a number of concerns 

about that, and made directions to the Council to address those. 10 

 

 So according to those directions the Council has proposed in its 

memorandum to us a set of processes to follow through.  In essence the 

Council’s proposal is for a rehearing of the New Neighbourhood 

provisions with the potential for an application to be made for a new 15 

proposal to address aspects of that, not replace it but to deal with some 

aspects to do with outline development plans.   

 

 According to the Panel’s directions other parties have also taken the 

opportunity to lodge memoranda in response to that.  The primary 20 

purpose of this pre-hearing meeting is to test those proposals and the 

various matters that have been raised by other parties.  It is fair to say 

though the matters raised are relatively confined.  So that is primarily 

what we will do before we then move to making directions according to 

what Ms Dawson, who sits with me today, and myself consider is the 25 

most appropriate way forward. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 So on that basis I will actually go through the formality of calling 30 

appearances.  We have tried different ways of making this more 

efficient but find probably the most efficient way is simply to do it the 

normal way.  Mr Winchester for the Council? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, and I have with me Mr Macleod with your 35 

leave who is proposed to be the Council’s lead witness and author in 

terms of the New Neighbourhood provisions.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Just with your leave I think it is more convenient if he 

sits here particularly if we need to talk about timing issues rather than 

me having to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Carranceja for the Crown? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, just going back through, Ms Mehlhopt 

for the Regional Council? 

 

MS MEHLHOPT:   For the Regional Council, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Leckie? 

 

MR LECKIE:   Mr Leckie for Ngāi Tahu Property and Enterprise Homes and 

Kintyre Estates.   15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Ms Semple? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, thank you, sir, for Riccarton Racecourse Reserve Trustees 

and Ngāi Tahu Property Limited and for Oakvale Farm, Ilam Park and 20 

CDL Land. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SEMPLE:  Thank you. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary for? 

 

MR CLEARY:   For Danne Mora and also for Fox, Bateman and Kingscote, 

submitter 2230 on the North West Belfast ODP, and also Franco Farms 30 

Limited, submitter 2371. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Working across, yes, thank you. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, Ms Crawford for Burrows Farms Limited, submitter 35 

2094, and for N Mortimer, Thornton Trust, Windie W-i-n-d-i-e Edge 

Trust, D Price and B Ashworth collectively submitters 2404 and, sir, 

we haven’t filed a memorandum and I can advise we intend to abide 

the Panel’s directions. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much, Ms Crawford.  It would be 

helpful if other parties would take Ms Crawford’s lead on that.  If you 

haven’t filed a memorandum to briefly indicate your position on the 

basis that we will allow those parties that lodge memoranda to speak to 

their issues and we are fully appraised, we have read them all anyway.  45 

Ms Nicol? 
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MS NICOL:   Ms Nicol for Orion, Christchurch International Airport and 

Waterloo Park.  None of those clients have filed a memorandum so we 

will abide by a decision of the Panel as well. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Nicol.  Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, for Fulton Hogan Limited.  We have filed a memorandum. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Yes? 10 

 

MR McFARLANE:   Ross McFarlane for McFarlane Family, 2495. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks Mr McFarlane.   

 15 

MR LEWIS:   Warren Lewis for Cashmere Fields, 2148, and Cashmere Park 

Trust, 2380, and I haven’t filed a memorandum but I am watching what 

is happening and am rather confused and I would like some clarity 

today, thanks. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, well, we will see how you go.  Now, just in terms of 

that, you know the Friend of Submitter, Mr Ball, sitting alongside.  If at 

any stage through today you have any questions about what is going on 

feel free to wander over to Richard and ask him.  I am sure you will not 

hesitate to stand up and ask about it as well, but obviously we have got 25 

to get through the process today as well, thank you.  Mr Mora? 

 

MR MORA:   Mike Mora from the Riccarton Wigram Community Board, 

submitter 2363. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks, Mr Mora.  Now, Mr Mora, just in terms of 

what Mr Lewis said, I don’t think the Community Board has filed a 

memorandum, has it? 

 

MR MORA:   No, we haven’t, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and are you able to state, what is your position, 

are you intending to abide the Panel’s decision? 

 

MR MORA:   I am not sure, I might need to talk to the lay submitters’ 40 

representative, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, is that Mr Stokes? 

 

MR STOKES:   Yes, Colin Stokes, submitter 1182 and I have filed a 45 

memorandum, thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, I have read that, thank you.  Mr Taylor? 

 

MR TAYLOR:   Graham Taylor for submitters 2474 through 2478 inclusive, 

which is Pan and Tsiu (ph 4.12), Sissons, Bromac Lodge, Harcourt and 5 

Mercantile Trust.  We have not lodged a memorandum, we are a 

phase 2 submitter seeking rezoning so we are not part of that original 

process. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, now, you will see, Mr Taylor, that the Council’s 10 

proposal is to have a single hearing effectively involving the stage 2 

dimensions as well.  All right, thank you.  Working along the room. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Hello, Mr Prebble.  I am acting for K Bush Road Limited and 

Brian Gillman Limited.  A memorandum has not been lodged but the 15 

submitters’ positions are reflected in the submission or sorry the 

memorandum of Ms Semple. 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have noted that. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   On behalf of her clients. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And, yes, that is where things stand for those submitters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Prebble.  All right, who else have we got, 

Mr Brown, I take it you have got counsel here? 30 

 

MR BROWN:   Correct, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, you do not need to introduce 

yourself then.   35 

 

MS COMFORT:   Julie Comfort, I am here for Luneys Buchanans Road, 

submitter 900; Freyberg Development Limited, submitter 907 on 

stage 1 and 2312 on stage 2; Milns Road Farm Limited and Blakesfield 

Limited, that is submitter 931; Davie Lovell-Smith, submitter 969; 40 

Quaifes Farm Limited, submitter 2242; and Summerset Holdings 

Limited, 2251.  None of them have filed a memorandum, sir.  In terms 

of Luneys Buchanans Road they would endorse the Danne Mora 

position in relation to the stage 1 ODPs, that they are fairly confined, 

and I have had a look and it appears as though all the landowners 45 
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associated with that ODP are parties to the process, so there may be 

room for negotiation through that process. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, we may hear from Mr Cleary about those 

things later, thank you.  All right, now just working along, thank you. 5 

 

MR CAMERON:   Yes, sir, Cameron, 2730. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Mr Cameron.  Mr Cameron, a bit like 

other lay submitters, if you have any questions about the process as we 10 

go you are sitting just behind the Friend of Submitter, Mr Ball.  Now, 

any other parties? 

 

MR THOMPSON:   Paul Thompson (ph 1.45) for Highsted Developments 

Limited, submitter 2750.  We have not submitted a memorandum but 15 

we support the Crown’s position. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Thompson.  Mr McCracken? 

 

MR McCRACKEN:   Kim McCracken for Terrace Development Services 20 

Limited, submission 966; Suburban Estates Limited, 967; and Johns 

Road Horticulture Limited, 2508, but none of those parties have filed a 

memorandum, but we will abide with the Court’s (INDISTINCT 2.30)  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, are you in a position to state a position on the 25 

memoranda that have been lodged at this stage, Mr McCracken? 

 

MR McCRACKEN:   It is accepted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks, Mr McCracken. 30 

 

MS ASHLEY:   Good morning, Justine Ashley on behalf of the Kennedys 

Bush Road Neighbourhood Association. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, and have you had a chance to look at 35 

what the Council is proposing? 

 

MS ASHLEY:   Yes, sir, that is accepted.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Okay, all right, well, I think that 40 

might cover that.   

 

 So in the first part of this we are just going to go through and test 

matters that are proposed by the Council and give opportunity for those 

who filed memoranda to address the Panel.  But bear in mind that 45 

Ms Dawson and I are fully familiar with all of the memoranda and we 
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may have one or two questions but I think you can assume that we are 

well familiar with what is proposed, and the relatively narrow points 

raised in response to the Council’s position.   

 

 So, Mr Winchester, you have got the floor now for a few minutes.  I do 5 

not know if you will need the full 10.  I have got some questions for 

you, one or two. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, I was not anticipating needing 

10 minutes and I take it you do not need me to run through the 10 

proposed process, you are content with that? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It might be worth, not for my benefit but just for those in 

the back of the room who said they were confused about what is going 

on, just to give us a thumbnail sketch of that process I think, and just be 15 

aware that microphone is not as sensitive as you think it is. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  The proposed process, to make it as simple 

as I think I can make it, is to combine all the relevant provisions from 

both stage 1 and stage 2 that deal with New Neighbourhoods.  So that 20 

is both subdivision and residential provisions in terms of land use and 

subdivision, and to undertake a holistic review of those provisions, 

bearing in mind where things had got to at the end of the stage 1 

residential and subdivision hearings, and try and bring them together in 

a coherent way in a way that addresses the concerns expressed in the 25 

Panel’s minute, that gives effect to the Regional Policy Statement and 

that hopefully is able to enable a collaborative and constructive process 

whereby submitters who are interested have the opportunity to 

participate at pretty much every stage up to a hearing, with the view to 

a hearing being, I will not say a formality, but limited only to issues in 30 

contention, and hopefully making the Panel’s task rather more 

straightforward than it has been to date. 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that process starts with the Council’s intention to what 

the Council describes as collaborate.  Obviously it is a matter for the 

Council how it approaches consultation or collaboration or mediation 

of its own in regard to other parties.  But the Council’s proposal is to 

start that now? 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It has in fact started already sir.  There has been 

engagement with the Crown with Ngai Tahu Properties and the 

Runanga with the joint venture in relation to Riccarton Racecourse, and 

that has been largely initiated by those parties.  So those parties have 45 

expressed views to the Council following receipt of the Panel’s minute, 
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and those views have been taken on board and there has been 

engagement, both on process and substance already.   

 

 That is not to say other parties are not entitled or welcome to do so, it is 

just a question of timing, and hopefully the process that is proposed by 5 

the Council will enable any other interested parties to participate both 

in a collaboration and drafting and then in subsequent caucusing and 

post notification. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And no doubt the Council has read the memorandum from 10 

the McFarlane Family Trust. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It has. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Indicating its concerns that it is not being engaged. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes sir and I have sought some instructions on that.  I 

do not have final instructions yet.  If the memorandum – and I have got 

no reason to doubt the accuracy – is accurate, then that needs to be 

addressed and I will make sure that Mr McFarlane and his family are 20 

contacted and have the opportunity to participate.  So someone from 

the Council will be in touch with them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr McFarlane, you will have an opportunity to speak 

shortly but you may have heard that now and just be aware that that 25 

process of discussion can start today.  The Panel is not in a position to 

direct the Council to mediate or to consult, it is really a matter for the 

Council, but Mr Winchester has volunteered those comments on behalf 

of his client and you are now in a position to perhaps take that 

opportunity up starting from today.  Now Mr Winchester, thank you. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, thank you sir and I have suggested that 

Mr MacLeod could perhaps give his contact details to Mr McFarlane, 

and that might be an appropriate channel for Mr McFarlane to express 

any views given the role that Mr MacLeod is intended to play in this 35 

process. 

 

 Now sir, I will not run through the suggested process.  I might briefly 

respond to some of the memoranda that have been filed if that would be 

helpful. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Just one thing about the process I have noted for 

other peoples’ benefit.  There is quite a bit of delay between this initial 

process and when the Council proposes to exchange its first set of 

evidence, and I take it that is because you need to make sufficient 45 

allowance for the statutory processes of submissions and further 
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submissions being received on a notified application for directions 

under clause 13.4 for any new aspect of the proposal that might come 

in. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I should have perhaps made that clearer sir but that 5 

is absolutely the case, so it enables the two processes to effectively 

come together by I think it is by December. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   So both processes should come together, and I suppose 

in a simplified sense, what is going to be the product of this process is a 

combined package.  Some bits will be within scope, some limited 

pieces are likely to be out of scope and therefore will need to be 

notified, but people should have the opportunity to see it all together by 15 

the time that those out of scope provisions are going to be notified. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So if you respond to the other memoranda now 

I have one or two questions that might follow and Ms Dawson may 

have. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you sir.  First of all, I will just briefly respond to 

the memorandum of the Crown and there are no major issues arising 

there.  I detect that the Crown’s concern is really one around timing 

based on the responses from other parties around their willingness to, I 25 

suppose, collaborate immediately or perhaps their lack of appetite to do 

that immediately, they would rather wait for the Council to go and do 

its thing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which is an understandable perspective - - - 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Perfectly understandable. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - given where we are at and the investment that those 

parties have made to date and the frustration that results from processes 35 

getting into this position. 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  All of that is accepted sir and no further comment 40 

needs to be made on the Council’s behalf in relation to those concerns, 

they are entirely valid.   

 

 It may be that the Crown’s concerns about the timing might be 

addressed in some respect by the other memoranda in that it appears 45 

that a more focused drafting exercise in terms of that initial 
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collaboration might be able to be undertaken.  I have spoken to 

Mr MacLeod about timing issues.  He still has a level of confidence 

about the ability to achieve the suggested dates and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well what I will do I think is allow you, when it comes to 5 

your closing remarks, once you have reflected on other peoples’ 

comments as well, to come back and crystallise exactly what those 

dates should be. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Although one thing I should flag for you and 

Mr Carranceja is that we do have some logistical limits to manage 

around the availability of Commissioner Marlene Oliver for expert 

conferencing which puts some limits on flexibility in terms of time. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  All right.  Well thank you for that indication sir.  

I suppose one other thing I would say in response to the Crown’s 

memorandum is that it would obviously be ideal for the best possible 

package to be put out by the time of notification of the out of scope 20 

provisions, so the entire package, but there is a lengthy period available 

both in terms of submissions and caucusing subject of course to what 

you have to say about the availability of caucusing for parties to engage 

before they need to prepare evidence.  So one way or another hopefully 

the initial product will address most concerns and then there is ample 25 

opportunity in my submission for it to be refined before there is a need 

to file evidence on it. 

 

 And one final point I suppose, which arises from paragraph 8 of the 

Crown’s memorandum, is around I suppose just a question mark as to 30 

the Panel’s ability to make a direction as to a notification date as part of 

a clause 13.4 direction.  I am not entirely sure that that is within the 

Panel’s powers, with respect. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I guess there is a question about whether that much 35 

prescription is warranted.  All parties know that we have to achieve the 

statutory deadlines. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And there does seem to be sufficient time accounted for in 

the Council’s programme around that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, bearing in mind that it seems likely that any 

hearing is going to be into the New Year and if there is some slippage 45 

in the timetable it may not ultimately affect when this matter can get 
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before the Panel. And I have not made investigations with the 

secretariat as to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Exact timing (INDISTINCT 3.16) 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - where there are any slots available where it could 

readily fit in but - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have, I have got a bit of a logistical issue there 

with staff members being away at this point in time, but I understand 10 

there was a tentative arrangement for a hearing on some matters, not 

this one, for mid-January.  But it may well be that adjustments can be 

made around that.  I think the short point is not to be concerned about 

that precise date, we will simply have to work that out. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I think it is in the realm of crystal ball gazing but 

optimistically sir, if this process close day (ph 3.56) is intended I am 

hopeful that we can get through whatever is left in less than a day, but I 

may be being unduly optimistic. 

 20 

 I will briefly address, I suppose just raise a query about the 

memorandum for Oakvale, Ilam Park and CDL.  There is a concern 

about the Council’s memorandum expressed at paragraph 9 and as I 

understand it there was concern that essentially what is being agreed to 

date might not be reflected in what is ultimately produced out of this 25 

process.  I suppose my response to that is, yes that is a possibility, but 

the Council’s memorandum does say that what has been effectively 

agreed in principal to date is going to be a starting point, and I do not 

think there is any real appetite to revisit those matters to the extent that 

they reflect an agreed position so far as they address only part of the 30 

consenting parts that are available in terms of the new neighbourhood 

provisions.  So we will definitely use what has been agreed to date as a 

starting point and seek to refine that and build upon it. 

 

  [10.40 am] 35 

 

 The suggestion that paragraph 11C of that memorandum that a more 

expeditious path to hearing might be available by removing 

consultation from the first phase of the process, well that is absolutely 

fine.  No submitters and interested parties need to participate in that 40 

initial phase of the process if they do not want to.  It is really that the 

just the Council did not want to shut out the opportunity for people to 

participate.  But, if they do not need to participate then that might make 

things quicker, although I suspect that in terms of the proposed timing 

it is going to be tight enough as it is, so it is not going to really save 45 

much time. 
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 Now, the memorandum on behalf of Fulton Hogan raises the issue 

about scope in terms of which precise provisions will be within the 

scope of this exercise.  That is absolutely a fairly made point.  I have 

prepared a draft memorandum, which I was hoping to file in advance of 5 

today, which outlined what the Council considered to be the full scope 

of all the stage 1 and stage 2 provisions.  You will recall that at the pre-

hearing meeting on residential stage 2 a number of new neighbourhood 

zone related provisions have been deferred, so that they can come into 

this process. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I would like to get some input into that draft 

memorandum and particularly the full list of those provisions before it 15 

is filed, sir.  With your leave, I can have that filed this week and that 

should give all submitters full notice of what the Council believes the 

scope of this exercise is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Presumably it would be on the basis that the parties to the 20 

subdivision hearing matter got an indication from the panel at that 

stage, that the new neighbourhood zone provisions, or at least the 

parties seem to agree that the new neighbourhood zone provisions 

could be kept aside from what might be the subject of a decision that 

would issue quite soon. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the standard subdivision matters, so that those matters 

could be clarified at an earlier stage and the Panel is well advanced 30 

along those lines.  It would have been nice to have got a decision out 

before today, but it is quite close and you may wish to discuss these 

matters further with me, but just to indicate that that is where things are 

tracking on the other subdivision matters that were heard. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  So, really I want to have Mr Long and 

Mr Macleod review that draft memorandum before it is filed, just so 

that they are both comfortable with the intended scope.  But the point 

raised by my learned friend, Ms Limmer, is absolutely fair. 

 40 

 The memorandum from Mr Stokes, I am not quite sure I understand the 

concern there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are matters of concern there relating to perhaps the 

substance of what the outcome should be once matters are heard. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Possibly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not so much perhaps for today, Mr Stokes, those matters 

will certainly be things we need to think about in due course, as to how 

ultimately, all of the provisions should look in the plan.  Including, you 5 

have raised issues in regard to continuity with things that may be part 

way through a process.  All of those are matters of substance rather 

than matters to do with the process of getting a hearing ready early in 

the new year. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes. So, I will wait to hear from Mr Stokes if he can 

elaborate on those concerns. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   But what I would say is that the issue of integrating 

essentially an established or partially developed new neighbourhood, in 

terms of the current plan provisions, with what is going to be the new 

neighbourhood zone provisions, is a live issue.  It needs careful 

consideration and is something that will no doubt exercise Mr Macleod 20 

in the coming weeks.  But, it is an important issue and it is not being 

overlooked. 

 

[10.45 am] 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   I have spoken to Mr McFarlane’s memorandum and all 

I can say is that it is a regrettable situation and hopefully we can make 

sure that all necessary input can be given by Mr McFarlane and his 

family into this process. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I understand you indicated Mr Macleod was available to 

talk to him today? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, indeed. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I think finally there is the memorandum on behalf of 

Danne Mora, from my learned friend, Mr Cleary.  I do need to take 

issue with one of the statements made in that memorandum.  The 40 

suggestion was made that, in terms of the North Halswell ODP, all 

parties to the stage 1 subdivision proposal were agreed that the ODP 

would give effect to the RPS. 

 

 I am not sure if there is a subtlety in that it does say “all parties who 45 

had an interest in the North Halswell ODP” but certainly the Council’s 
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closing legal submissions, which were given by my colleague, Ms 

Viskovic, were quite clear about the scope issues and content issues 

from the Council’s perspective, and it was accepted by the Council that 

both the content of the North Halswell ODP did not give effect to the 

RPS in terms of the level of detail. 5 

 

 It was also clearly acknowledged that there were no submissions made 

on the content of that ODP, which provided scope for any necessary 

amendments and that is of course behind the Council’s proposal with 

regard to the stage 1 ODPs in terms of those being re-notified. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the other hand, would you accept that if, in effect, 

when this matter comes to be heard in due course, then what is in front 

of the Panel includes everything by way of the evidence that we have 

received on notified proposals to date, including the expert 15 

conferencing statements that came out of the subdivision hearing on the 

North Halswell ODP? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I do. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And the merits of that can be tested? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely, and there is no need to reinvent the wheel, 

or indeed present new evidence, unless there is some new information 

or new considerations that need to be addressed. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is it right that the Council is effectively taking a 

position where it is looking afresh at stage 1 ODPs?  Mindful that, that 

evidence is before the Panel. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But mindful of its obligations under section 32 to come 

back to the Panel with what the Council considers is the most 

appropriate course? 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Indeed, and I hope it was clear from the Council’s 

memorandum that while we are starting afresh, in a sense, we are not 

throwing out the work that has been done to date.  And, indeed, all of 

the evidence that has been given to date and the various inputs into 40 

those stage 1 hearings are indeed on the record and remain relevant. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   So, sir, that is all I need to say in terms of addressing 

the memoranda and I am happy to answer any questions that you may 

have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well I have a couple and I want to test you on 5 

those before we go to other parties, but, Ms Dawson do you have any 

questions at this stage? 

 

MS DAWSON:   You start with your questions and I will follow. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will start it off.  All right.  Mr Winchester, I just want to 

test with you the process question a little bit.  Looking at clause 13.4 

again, if that could go back on the screen, please. 

 

 So looking at that empowering provision, and obviously you are 15 

making the application under clause 13.4 today for our determination 

that is a matter for later.  But what is important at this stage is that we 

set a set of directions in place that are legally sound and not likely to 

trip anyone up in process terms later on. 

 20 

 So as I understand that discretion is based on the Panel considering 

changes are needed in terms of different elements and there is an 

overall requirement that we be satisfied that things are in a material 

way outside the scope of the proposal as notified.  That is the first 

element. 25 

 

 And do you agree with me that the second element is we need to be 

satisfied that changes are needed to deal with submissions on the 

notified proposal? 

 30 

  [10.50 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that how you read that? 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So when it comes to the Council making application to us, 

it is important that those two dimensions are brought to our attention so 40 

that we are satisfied that there is scope, you would agree with that? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I just wanted to make sure that you were fully familiar 45 

with the second element, in that I guess the question is, has the Council 



 Page 15 

  

PHC:  New Neighbourhood Zone Provisions 18.08.15 

tested whether the changes are needed to deal with submissions? Are 

there particular submissions the Council has in mind at this stage that 

changes to the outline development plans are needed for? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   There are no identified submissions at this stage that the 5 

Council has been able to isolate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so no submissions that the Council has been able to 

identify that, for instance, seek a different ODP arrangement, is that 

right? 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, that is right, sir, and it is curious language in a 

way in this clause, in that it - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But we have to – without second guessing the drafting 15 

intention, obviously there is a bit of case law such as Justice Kos’ 

decision in Palmerston North where you might recall a submission 

sought relief there, which he determined was beyond the scope of 

allowable relief, so we will need to be satisfied on an application that 

both of those LIMs are met so that we can safely make an order or a 20 

direction. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and it may be that depending upon what is 

regarded as a proposal, that the answer lies in a Stage 2 submission. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just thinking about the concept of proposal, so 

proposal is defined in the order and as I understand it, it can include a 

part of a proposal, so the theory of that would seem to me that it is a 

flexible concept. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If a proposal has been notified as a set of provisions, 

another proposal can be before us as only a subset of those provisions 

because it is part of the proposal, do you agree with that? 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Indeed, and indeed two parts of a proposal, being 

possibly Stage 1 and Stage 2 of the same proposal could be regarded as 

being part of the same proposal. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As long as it has been notified. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. The other thing I wanted to just test with you is 

whether in fact it is correct that – well, just reading your earlier – I just 

want to find it actually.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Paragraph 18? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am just having a bit of trouble with the index here 

on this. All right, yes, if you just bear with me a minute, go to - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   18. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the doubt being expressed there around the Council, 

of its own volition, notifying the new proposal. So I wonder whether 

there is much in that anxiety in a real sense. For instance, if we look at 

the outline development plans themselves, we have got some before us 15 

for Stage 1, and according to the theory of your memorandum the 

Council would say that they are deficient and the Council wants to 

remedy that deficiency. So we follow that through, at some stage the 

Panel will need to test under section 32AA what is the most appropriate 

course for those provisions, no doubt Danne Mora’s position will be 20 

expressed and others, and the Panel will ultimately have to make a 

judgement between, on the theory of the Council’s approach, the 

proposal, ie that ODP part before us now, or whether it is more 

appropriate to replace that and therefore reject the proposal before us 

and replace it with the amended one. Do you agree with that? 25 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in that sense, I wondered whether in fact the lack of 

any Council ability to withdraw or amend, say, the ODPs before us is 

really that material? In other words, whether it is by 13.4 or by the 

Council’s own volition, does it make much difference really in the end? 

The Panel’s obligation is to determine the outcome on the proposals 35 

before us, however they get here, whether by our direction or by 

Council’s volition. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I agree insofar as whatever the process by which a 

proposal gets to you, your obligations are the same. The issue is 40 

whether the Council has any independent power to essentially take an 

ODP or withdraw - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But why does it need to?  That is my point. Why does the 

Council need to take any initiative to withdraw, say, a current ODP, is 45 

it not also open to the Council to leave it before us and effectively 
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make its case under section 32 and other provisions of the Act in due 

course for what is the most appropriate decision we should make, 

which one we should reject, which one we should accept of the 

proposals before us? 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, assuming there was scope for the Panel to 

deal with the issues then, yes, it would not matter. I suppose there is a 

process implication if we go down that path and it takes until early next 

year for the Panel to reach that conclusion, what the answer is in terms 

of rectifying any identified deficiency. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, okay, that perhaps gets to the number bit, is there a 

timing consequence of this option that pushes the solution significantly 

further into next year in terms of the hearing? 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   In my submission there is, sir, because if we simply 

leave those Stage 1 ODPs on the table, and we track through this 

process and we don’t notify fresh ODPs, then depending upon the 

Panel’s ability to consider the substance of them, the Panel would still 

be in the same position having said, well, the ODPs don’t give effect to 20 

the RPS, we can’t approve them, we’ll have to direct the Council to 

notify fresh ODPs under clause 13.4, and you will not be able to make 

that direction, in my submission, until you have reached a conclusion 

on the merits, and that could be the first quarter of next year. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Okay, well, that really does emphasise the 

importance of making sure the application under 13.4 is soundly made. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Understood, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am not sure that I understand the last conversation that 

you’ve had with the Judge. If there was potential for the Council to, of 

its own volition, notify a new proposal that would sit over an already 35 

notified proposal in the nature of a variation, because when, under the 

normal course of events, when a variation is proposed it doesn’t 

withdraw the notified plan that sits beneath it, it just overlays it and 

then they are both subject to the consideration in the final hearing, so if 

there was potential for the Council to notify a new proposal without 40 

withdrawing the currently notified proposal, such as for a new ODP, 

could that not be done in the same timeframe that the notification 

would occur if it was allowable under 13.4, if it was decided that 13.4 

actually was not available? 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, it could, but, in my submission, there appears 

to be a constraint in clause 5.6 of the second schedule in that, that 

notification of an amended ODP would essentially be an amendment of 

the provisions of the proposal, the earlier proposal. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   The already notified proposal? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That’s right, and there appears to be a prohibition in that 

clause on the Council having that power to essentially – having notified 

a proposal then a few months later a light bulb has gone off or someone 10 

has had a bright idea and said, well, in fact, we don’t think that zoning 

is appropriate at all, we think we are going to change it, and have a 

completely different zoning.   

 

 So there is obviously a process concern underpinning this clause that 15 

the Council cannot just play fast and loose with the process and go and 

change proposals that it has already put out. 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, what is the provision again? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Clause 5.6 of schedule 2 – schedule 1, sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Six? 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   5(6). 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   5(6). 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   5(6). 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So it says, “after a proposal has been notified under this 

order the Council must not amend or withdraw any provisions of the 

proposal except as provided for by clause 13(4) of this order and clause 35 

4(10) of this schedule”.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I guess the question is, is that really offended in a sense 

that the theory of the Council’s approach is to equip the Panel to make 

the appropriate determination of all of the provisions, including the 40 

ODPs, in due course, and on the basis that the evidence that is before us 

will remain before us, and the matters we need to determine will 

remain before us.   

 

 So in that sense the Council has not achieved any withdrawal or 45 

amendment of anything, has it, by asking us to look at additional 
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matters.  Bearing in mind a proposal can include even an ODP itself on 

the definition of proposal.  A new ODP. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes sir.  Well I am entirely content to go with that 

interpretation but - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I certainly do not want to trip the Council up in process 

terms. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to make sure that these things are properly 

thought through.  I am thinking ahead to whether we make directions 

later today which effectively give the Council a little bit more time to 

put its position to us in a considered way.   15 

 

 I am not saying that you are incorrect at all.  I am just saying that there 

are different process choices, and as I read the memorandum it does not 

block out this choice, it just says you have got some doubts about it, 

and I have not had the opportunity to review submissions to find where 20 

we could safely say that change is needed to the notified proposals to 

deal with submissions. And it may well be quite clearly there and the 

Council will assist us on that obviously in making that application. 

 

MS DAWSON:   My concern is that the different choices are thought through 25 

and that we are not left with the potential for a big gap whereby there 

are no submissions that would allow the revised proposal – I cannot 

remember what that is to be called, but the amended proposal – to be 

changed, so there is no specific submission that would allow an 

amendment to be done through the current process, but there still has to 30 

be a submission that allows a 13(4) direction to be made. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does not seem to say it has to be seeking relief. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It just seems to be something you would – needs to be 

dealt with. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes and there has to be a difference between those two 40 

submissions, for them to not fall into the first process but enable the 

second process to occur.  And if not, then it seems like the third process 

is not available. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Potentially. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Potentially, so we just want to explore that a bit more to 

make sure that we are not heading down a path making assumption that 

the process is going to work and find that it does not. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Well what I can advise is that the Council has 5 

itself submitted on stage 2 ODPs for the New Neighbourhood Zone 

saying they need further detail to address the requirements of the RPS.  

So at a threshold level that second limb would seem to be satisfied and 

I can certainly make sure that evidence is before the Panel to give you 

some reassurance.   10 

 

 In terms of the process or the third option that doubt is being expressed 

about, I have simply looked at that clause on its face and it seems rather 

blunt and pretty clear and hence the conservatism in the Council’s 

approach, because I think from a process point of view, when proposals 15 

have already been before the Panel, it is fairer for all participants in the 

process if it is the Panel making directions about what next rather than 

the Council rushing off and doing its own thing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  So you are looking to the due process purpose of 20 

that provision? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, absolutely sir.  So that is what underpins I suppose 

the reticence I have and certainly the advice we have given to the 

Council about its ability to simply have a bright idea, and obviously 25 

this might be in a slightly different category in that it is not necessarily 

a bright idea, it is something that has emerged through the course of 

hearings and the evidence but - - - 

 

  [11.05 am] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is an idea you mean, as opposed to - - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:  - - - how the idea has come about does not seem to make 

any difference when you look at clause 5(6). 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Winchester. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now Mr Carranceja, bear in mind we have read everything 

- - - 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - including the Crown’s memorandum in support of the 

Council’s position raising some questions about whether the process 

could be refined. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And as I read it seeking consideration of allowing a bit 

more time for drafting and consultation between parties. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The limiter for us is simply the logistics of making sure 

we have got an available Environment Commissioner for facilitated 

mediation and/or expert conferencing, which we think we definitely 

need to have provision for in this process given where we are at. 15 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the basis of what I am working with at the moment in 

the absence of some key staff who are on leave, I would need to make 20 

some further inquiries of Ms Oliver before I make any adjustments to 

the timetable to allow any more scope time wise. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am working on the current understanding that she has 

available capacity in late September but I am not sure about pushing it 

into early October or whatever. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you could bear that in mind, and also I would 

assume that the Crown on these matters would be working closely with 

the Council in any event regardless of our directions. 

 35 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir.  And sir I can indicate certainly the Crown is 

very keen to work with the Council to ensure that what is then provided 

to all the NNZ submitters is as usable and clear workable as possible.   

 

 The concern really is simply this sir.  We have made the assumption 40 

that the next two weeks starting from today will be if you like the 

drafting stage undertaken by the Council in collaboration with willing 

parties, the Crown being one of them.  The difficulty we the Crown 

have sir, is that the person that we have in mind to assist with that 

process is Ms Sandra McIntyre, who is involved in both the Residential 45 
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and the Subdivision hearings, with a very keen knowledge on what has 

happened, including NNZ provisions sir.   

 

 It just so happens sir that this week and next week is if you like full on 

for her to prepare evidence for the stage 2 Residential hearing, and so 5 

by necessity it will limit her available for if you like this collaboration 

process over the next couple of weeks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so the other issue of course is that we really cannot – 

I do not think it is really the role of the Panel – to get involved in, to 10 

making directions or in any way stage managing the collaboration 

process. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In a sense we will measure what comes out of the process 

in due course and however well it is informed by collaboration will 

obviously go to the merits of how it is considered, but it is really a 

matter for the Council and the parties as to how they go about that. 

 20 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Absolutely sir, so essentially our preference from the 

Crown’s perspective is we definitely want to make Ms McIntyre 

available but if we can stretch that first timeframe sir, for the 

collaboration process with the Council before the provisions are then 

sent out to the remaining parties.  Even just an extra week would enable 25 

more - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay.  My suggestion would be, when we have 

our next break or during the course of the morning, if you could 

compare notes with Mr Winchester - - - 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - so that you are in a position – perhaps, I understand 

there is no real difference in principle here - - - 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - maybe Mr Winchester could speak to what is the 

optimal and on that basis between those two options we can test the 40 

availability of, in particular Commissioner Oliver, make sure there are 

no hiccups there before we lock it down. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Yes sir.  And sir I am also grateful for your early 

indication that the Panel’s decision on the Subdivision stage 1 matter is 45 

I guess imminent.  And I just wish to indicate that would be useful to 
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look at in terms of ensuring that what the collaboration process 

produces is consistent, at least in terms of structure and format, to what 

the Panel might have in mind for the Subdivision proposal itself. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not in a position to talk about that right now. 5 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, I appreciate that sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Other than to say the decision is well advanced. 

 10 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Yes sir, thank you.  Now Mr Winchester mentioned 

briefly at paragraph 8 of the Crown’s memorandum, this is to do with 

the specification of the notification date. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  Sir, that is not something the Crown is absolutely 

insisting on.  It was really just in response to the Council’s 

memorandum – which did mention a notification date of 18 September. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:  We thought, well it is probably premature to specify that 

as it is dependent for example on the Panel’s consideration of the 

Council’s memorandum. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean what I have in mind is the fact that when the 

Council makes application we need to give opportunity for other parties 

to express a view on that application before we make a determination 

on it. 30 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we need to allow for that and we can’t really be precise 

about a time on any basis. (ph 0.10) 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir.  Lastly, if I may have some liberty to comment 

on the clause 13.4 conundrum, sir.  That is an interesting clause as 40 

everyone has pointed out because it does refer to you see the two prong 

test.  Essentially the matter has got to be outside the scope. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Outside the scope of the notified version or notified 

proposal. 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and presumably, my presumption there, sir, it is 

outside the scope of the notified proposal and submissions on it 

because, as you know, submissions provide scope to amend the 

proposal. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, this is where we have to be a little bit careful 

because it doesn’t necessarily do that, does it, on the basis of the High 

Court’s decision in Palmerston North? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, but tacked on top of that is that other element 10 

which you have noted, sir, which is to address submissions on the 

proposal.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, all I wish to indicate, and I mentioned this briefly 

before, the Crown has lodged very broad submissions in both stage 1 

and stage 2.  Elements of the broad submission, sir, is that the proposals 

need to give effect to the RPS. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And another element of the broad submission, sir, is 

that the Crown has sought that all proposals are usable, ease of use - - -  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in a sense we are in place now where effectively 

the Crown, through its experts, have done their best to try to respond in 

some ways to those sorts of aspirations and we have ended up where 

we are.  So perhaps in that sense it is necessary in order to deal with the 

substance of those concerns from submissions. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir.  Essentially what I am indicating, and also to 

my learned friend, is the Crown’s submission is very broad and that 

might, subject to my friend’s consideration, enable him to consider that 

as part of a future memorandum and application under clause 13.4, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Carranceja.  Now, I will just work around the 

room I think, Ms Mehlhopt, anything for the Regional Council?  I am 

pleased to see the Council’s interest in this.  Obviously it directly 

pertains to the regional policy statement. 

 45 
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MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, and took on board your comments in the earlier pre-

hearing meeting that we had last week, and at this stage I don’t have 

anything further to add to the memorandum that has been filed on 

behalf of the Council. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Ms Mehlhopt.  All right, Mr Leckie, I will just 

pause a minute and I will get your memorandum out. 

 

MR LECKIE:   There are two memoranda, sir, one for Enterprise Homes and 

Kintyre Estates. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LECKIE:  They are fairly brief, it speaks for itself. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It effectively takes no issue with the Council’s position, 

yes. 

 

MR LECKIE:  I will leave that one as it is and the other is for Ngāi Tahu 

Property and that also supports the Council’s position. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But raises concerns around collaboration in the face of all 

of the investment that Ngāi Tahu Property has put into a process and 

the costs and implications of that. 

 25 

MR LECKIE:   Absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then having to go back through another round of this 

and then looking at a contested process later.  That is certainly a 

message I think the Council has heard.  I take it Ngāi Tahu is not 30 

seeking any particular directions in that particular space?  It is not 

really for us to make those directions. 

 

MR LECKIE:   No, it is just to raise that as a frustration but we see the process 

- - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand. 

 

MR LECKIE:    - - - going forward as constructive and as much that we can 

draw on that earlier work as possible, Ngāi Tahu would certainly 40 

support that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so Ngāi Tahu would also see it on the basis that what 

we come to consider in due course is everything before us including 

what has been notified today. 45 
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MR LECKIE:   Absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR LECKIE:   Thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, thank you? 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir.  In respect of Riccarton Racecourse Reserve 

Trustees and Ngāi Tahu Property, which is a joint venture, you will see 10 

in the memorandum that I simply echo the position that Mr Leckie has 

addressed you on.  I would, however, say that it is important to 

understand that Riccarton Racecourse Reserve Trustees and Ngāi Tahu 

Property Limited, as that joint venture, is a new participant in these 

proceedings as a stage 2 submitter. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, as stage 2. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   And if I could just say in respect of them and also some of the 

Carter entities and CDL who are also new participants. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And CDL haven’t (ph 4.28) kept a watching brief to date. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Correct and simply really because they have also been in a 

joint venture with Ngāi Tahu Property on the Preston subdivision and 25 

so that is how they have been able to do so.   

 

 My concern, sir, and I fully appreciate the Panel’s observation that it is 

not for the Panel to involve itself in how parties collaborate and I think 

the presence of Mr MacLeod here today will provide some confidence 30 

to submitters in terms of whether they do participate in that 

collaboration. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 35 

 I would just caution though, and perhaps it is more for my friend 

Mr Winchester, that it is difficult for stage 2 submitters to enter 

collaboration without having a clear understanding of where the 

Council has already got to in stage 1.  You would appreciate that for 

stage 2 submitters what they have effectively got, unless they have had 40 

an inroad into stage 2, is a set of greyed-out provisions in the plan 

which says, “these are the new notified zone provisions”.  So there 

hasn’t really been an opportunity for those parties to understand what 

the Council’s current word is on what those New Neighbourhood 

provisions are.  So to then ask them to collaborate or to involve 45 
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themselves in a process of collaboration, they are frankly at a 

disadvantage. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  So, Ms Semple, I think I hear you to say, in effect, 

for collaboration to have any meaning for people in that situation, the 5 

Council needs to accept that it is the leader of the development of its 

proposal for testing. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir.   Correct, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in terms of process failure to date it is certainly what 

the minute has raised as concerns around just exactly what is the 

Council seeking to lead on given the changes of theory that occurred 

through the process. 

 15 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes, sir.  That is absolutely correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which debilitates parties in seeking to engage because 

they don’t know what they are trying to deal with. 

 20 

MS SEMPLE:   That is right.  That is exactly the point, sir, and as I say I 

appreciate that it is not a direction that the Panel can provide but - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, in due course the Panel will measure obviously the 

merits of what is in front of it. 25 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I guess time will tell whether there has been effective 

engagement to ensure the provisions are properly sound in that sense. 30 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Yes.  Thank you, sir.  I don’t have any other comment to 

make. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   35 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I think you can take it that there doesn’t seem to be 

any issue with the Riccarton matter coming in as part of the notified - - 40 

- 

 

MS SEMPLE:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - provisions in due course. 45 
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MS SEMPLE:   I do have some questions around the Riccarton proposal and it 

may or may not be an appropriate time to address you on those.  That is 

a circumstance where that rezoning has been notified and there is a 

question around the extent to which the Panel will want to hear from 

the joint venture supporting the notification or simply supporting its 5 

own submission and the extent to which you might want to hear from 

the Council about that, given there are no submissions opposing the 

rezoning as such but simply the provisions of the new notified zone that 

apply. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see.   

 

MS SEMPLE:   I don’t want to take up your time and it may be something that 

you would prefer me to address you on at a subsequent time but there 

are no submissions opposing the New Neighbourhood zone for that 15 

site. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, what I have in mind is that there will be a need for 

another set of directions when it comes closer to actually really 

crystallising the nature of the hearing and how it will run.  So probably 20 

not directing on those matters at this stage but bearing in mind we 

would anticipate that when it comes to organising for the hearing, when 

things are much clearer, there may be a need for such directions 

particularly in situations where there is a proponent and the Council 

together, as has happened before, Mr Winchester, just in regard to, for 25 

instance, the Danne Mora matter which we will come to, and I think it 

is probably best dealt with at a later stage of hearing preparation. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Ms Semple. 

 

MS SEMPLE:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, now, Mr Cleary, I will just pause a minute while I 35 

find your memorandum.  All right. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir.  You will recall Danne Mora’s position at the 

subdivision hearing was that any acknowledged inadequacies in respect 

of the North Halswell ODP were cured through the hearing process in 40 

terms of the expert caucusing et cetera and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that was a submission and as your memorandum 

rightly acknowledges it doesn’t necessarily - - - 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - coincide with where the Panel thinks on things on the 

basis that these matters will not be part of the decision it will issue 

shortly on Subdivision. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   I fully acknowledge that, sir.  There was definitely an issue of 

scope, and again that was addressed in closing submissions by 

Ms Viskovic and myself, and again Danne Mora’s position, which the 

Panel need not agree with, is that there is scope within the submissions 

and/or within the Panel’s powers under clause 13.2 to make those 10 

amendments. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There was an element of doubt around that in regard to 

infrastructure, wasn’t there? 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Well, as I set out, the amendments that were made were 

essentially twofold and firstly there were amendments to the narrative 

to identify how infrastructure of wastewater and water infrastructure 

would be provided for within the ODP, and the second thing was the 

identification of an indicative stormwater management treatment 20 

facility on the Danne Mora land, and that is set out again in my 

memorandum of (INDISTINCT 0.17). 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then there is the aspect of density distribution 

needing to be reflected on, given the Regional Policy Statement and 

what it says, and how best to give effect to that, and your submissions 

on that are before us. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:   They are indeed.  I don’t need to go into those again. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I take it you would accept, Mr Cleary, that hearing these 

things, bearing in mind that these are all matters before us, including 

the evidence, including the expert conferencing outcomes, and I don’t 35 

think the Council intends anything different in that regard, that those 

would remain before us.  Matters can really lie there, can’t they, in 

terms of any application that comes from (INDISTINCT 1.02) which 

we would expect they are making under clause 13.4?  At that stage 

Danne Mora would have the opportunity to respond to that application.  40 

It is not appropriate to make directions on that at this stage, is it? 

 

MR CLEARY:   All I can say is, when I heard my friend saying that the 

Council was starting afresh that did ring some alarm bells in the sense 

that Danne Mora is a landowner within the OCP area that has 45 

participated fully. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Then Danne Mora can make its case clear as to what it 

thinks the most appropriate option is in regard to the ODP for your 

client’s land, given the evidence before us, can’t it?  

  5 

MR CLEARY:   But essentially it seems to me that there is a possibility that 

the whole of the ODP is opened up again for submission and further 

submission.  That is what I take from my friend’s words “starting 

afresh”.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If it is, and it is procedurally sound that it can be, if those 

are both given the tick, your client is in a position to say, is it not, that 

the most appropriate approach is what the client has advocated for 

today? 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely, but then again that just means we are essentially 

participating again to say the same thing we have said. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but unfortunately we are in that space, are we not? 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   And that is why, in the memorandum, I did wonder whether 

or not it was possible for some direction from the panel as to essentially 

what was the scope of this limited direction that the Council is 

contemplating - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we haven’t received the application yet though, 

Mr Cleary.  I have to say, when we do receive it in due course, we will 

obviously have to satisfy ourselves that we have the legal power to do 

it.  We simply have to wait for the application to make that judgement.  

But it is not something which I would be inclined to think was 30 

appropriate, nor would I have any inclination to make any pre-emptive 

views known on it, including as to scope.  I have to say I would be 

pretty nervous about getting into that territory, as to whether you would 

limit further the scope of what is notified beyond what the Council is 

asking for, because that would involve predetermining the outcome, 35 

wouldn’t it? 

 

 We have got some evidence as to your client’s position on the outcome 

and your submissions, nevertheless it would be effectively amounting 

to accepting those submissions and that evidence as the most 40 

appropriate outcome.   

 

MR CLEARY:   That may be the most efficient thing for the Panel to do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Most efficient from your client’s point of view, but 45 

whether it satisfies our obligations under section 32AA, and giving 
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effect to the RPS, we haven’t made any judgements on them at this 

stage.  We have put all of that on hold. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So effectively we are in the situation where the Council is 

second guessing what the Panel might think. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not really.  Isn’t the Panel simply being invited to look a 

wider range of options in order to make its choice as to what the most 

appropriate course with all things considered, including you client’s 

position? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   The Panel’s initial minute did set out its concerns, or 

observations, regarding giving effect to the Regional Policy Statement 

in relation to the ODPs and some observations regarding matters such 

as how density should be provided for.  So there is some guidance in 15 

our initial minute that makes it clear that we do think some further 

consideration is necessary for the North Halswell ODP.   

 

MR CLEARY:   Either in the ODP or within the rules that provide - - - 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Well, that is for you and the Council to discuss, at this stage. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Obviously we can only go so far as we can go.  Certainly 

in terms of the minute issued, we pushed the waka out as far as we feel 

as though we safely can without predetermining where things should 25 

go, hopefully to assist to the parties on the issues they need to 

contemplate in order to help us satisfy Section 32AA, which the minute 

made clear we weren’t in a position to satisfy on the basis of what we 

had received.  Anything further, Mr Cleary? 

 30 

[11.25 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, I haven’t, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Now, I think Ms Limmer might be 35 

the next, in terms of memoranda that have been lodged. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, you have heard the discussion between the Panel 40 

and Mr Winchester on what is expected to be able to be issued at some 

stage in the near future on subdivision. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does that assist your concerns? 
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MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir.  The memo we filed on Friday really outlined the 

concerns, being we don’t know what provisions of chapter 8 are 

supposed into under the second hearing of this matter.  The memo was 

focused on that.  Mr Winchester has advised us that we won’t know 5 

that now until Friday, this week.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would you like an opportunity to respond to his 

memorandum? 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, I would.  I think at the moment I would be botching it 

had I to somewhat anticipate what might be included.  Clearly there is 

only one policy of real concern to my client, and that is the policy that 

floats at a very conceptual level above the details of the MNZ 

provisions and the other Greenfield Priority Area provisions.  It is for 15 

that reason that my client would submit that there is nothing to be 

gained from bringing that policy into stage 2 and having another round 

of discussions of deliberations on it, because nothing will be achieved 

by that.  We won’t know any more - - - 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - at the end of stage 2 than we knew at the end of stage 1.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I guess the position fairly is that both you and the Panel 25 

are a little bit limited in being able to take that too much further at this 

stage.  I have obviously skimmed through relatively carefully the 

provisions in chapter 8 and so forth and also those in the Residential 

chapter that pertain to New Neighbourhood Zones.  Obviously that 

process needs to be gone through in order for the Panel to be satisfied 30 

that it is not picking up too early in the Subdivision decision, matters 

that should be addressed in the New Neighbourhood Zone provisions 

anyway.  But I guess we would both benefit from a bit of clarity from 

the Council on this, which Mr Winchester has indicated he will provide 

by way of his memorandum. If we allow any response from parties to 35 

be able to be provided within a few days of that, do you think that 

would cover the base before we finalise what is in fact going to be 

addressed at this later hearing? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, and perhaps if that memo from the Council could 40 

indicate what benefit bringing provisions back into this stage that have 

already been part of stage 1, chapter 8 provisions, that weren’t tied to 

the chapter 14 ones anyway, that would be helpful as well, because that 

is the point that my client is particularly concerned to understand.  It is 

just if it is going to go through it again, what the benefit of that might 45 

be from a process perspective. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sure Mr Winchester has heard you on you on that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir.  It might be convenient to indicate that I don’t 

think it is appropriate that the Council issues a view on the benefit; the 5 

issue is one of scope and whether they are properly part of the New 

Neighbourhood Zone package. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have to say, really from the Panel’s point of view, 

Ms Limmer, the Panel just wants to ensure that it has all of the relevant 10 

provisions dealt with in the relevant hearing, and, secondly, that it 

doesn’t delay to a later hearing things that are genuinely not caught up 

in the New Neighbourhood Zone provisions. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir.   15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, the Panel is mindful of those two things.  It’s really 

just a question of is it a New Neighbourhood provision or not?  Could 

we make a decision on New Neighbourhood provisions as a whole in 

the absence of this provision being in there?  That is the guidance we 20 

probably want the Council, just in terms of that exercise rather than a 

merits argument as to whether it should be in or out. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Absolutely, sir, and that is all my client was looking for, is 

was firstly what is being proposed, and what that is going to achieve 25 

comes into the whether or not it is the right thing to propose.  So we are 

content to wait and see what the Council comes back with, and respond 

to that in due course. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Limmer.  Now, coming to you, Mr 30 

McFarlane.  I have read your email, which, notwithstanding that it is a 

bit late, is accepted in, there is no prejudice, so it is before us and we 

have considered, and on that basis I have put it to Mr Winchester and 

he has responded in regard to his acknowledgement of the importance 

of consulting.  Is there anything you wanted to address us on in that? 35 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR MCFARLANE:   I would just like to acknowledge, Mr Winchester, and 

thank you for actually seeing that point of view.  It is a shame that we 40 

have to get to this point when we see it as something that could have 

been resolved much earlier, and especially in the light of the City 

Council notifying this area as a plan change before the District Plan 

Review began.   

 45 
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 So yes we thank you.  I just say that in the area of south west Halswell, 

which is Outline Development Plan 14.10.18, we are only one of six 

residents.  The rest of the area is pretty much owned by developers and 

we believe, as residents, we should have that same amount of say as a 

developer.  I acknowledge if you like the role that developers have, but 5 

we live there and we are certainly not impressed when we find out by 

various parties, through various means, that the roads are going through 

our houses.  And I think if everybody got together and spoke about it I 

think everyone would acknowledge there will have to be some sort of 

sacrificial lamb in the form of land that has to go into roading, but to 10 

not know about it and to find out through this process is pretty 

disturbing for us. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 15 

MR MCFARLANE:   So thank you for acknowledging that we require input. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think the Council has listened to your input.  All right.  

Just one other observation I would make, Mr McFarlane, just in regard 

to this process.  So I think somewhere in your, it may have been your 20 

email or it may have been your original submission, reference to 

getting a mutually acceptable outcome, words to that effect. 

 

 Just bear in mind that when it comes to when things are heard, and if in 

due course you are not satisfied by the outcome, you will be able to 25 

present your case to us in a hearing as is being scheduled, and we will 

look at issues to do with making sure you have got properly allocated 

time to present your case and so forth.   

 

 But to bear in mind that ultimately our burden is to come up with what 30 

is the most appropriate decision in this area, whether or not it is 

mutually acceptable.  So just bear that in mind when it comes to 

thinking about things down the track, that ultimately we will be looking 

for the most appropriate choice of planning provisions, most 

appropriate outcome.  35 

 

 If it is mutually acceptable that is obviously very helpful, but just bear 

in mind the RMA requires that test of appropriateness rather than 

mutual acceptability in a situation.  Just so that you know that. 

 40 

MR MCFARLANE:   As it does for consultation I believe too. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Ball will obviously be able to help you further with 

these sorts of things as we go along, but we will just see in due course 

how things go and in due course you will be free to present your case 45 

as fully as you want. 
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MR MCFARLANE:  Well, we thank you for the opportunity to make that 

input. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Now what else have we got here.  5 

Have we covered all those who have presented memoranda? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Stokes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, Mr Stokes, my apologies.   10 

 

MR STOKES:  Thank you Panel.  My concern is that the Council is effectively 

quashing existing living G zone rules and Outline Development Plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is a matter of substance, Mr Stokes.  You will be 15 

able to present your case on – Mr Winchester indicated some 

acknowledgement of what you were saying, obviously not reflecting 

the Council position, but saying those are matters we will have to look 

at on the substance later on. 

 20 

MR STOKES:   Right, and to reflect the comments of previous people, there 

has been no consultation with me from the Council on this matter and I 

have been dealing with this for years.  They have effectively consented 

works that make eight hectares of residential land – only a fraction of 

that is mine – but they have made eight hectares of residential land 25 

impossible to subdivide through their current consents, and issues of 

section 223, and by now quashing that when the zone is almost 

complete, except for this eight hectares of land, to then bring in new 

rules under the New Neighbourhood Zone, which would effectively 

stamp that eight hectares as never being able to be subdivided in the 30 

future.   

 

 So that is my concern, and there has been no consultation with the 

Council, in fact they refused to consult on it.  And that is a concern I 

have.  I know it is not the Panel’s job to ask them or instruct them to 35 

consult but we would appreciate it if they did. 

 

 So if Mr Winchester could take that on board that might better assist.  

And whether those matters can be dealt with through the current 

process, are well be. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and in terms of the process that the Council has 

outlined on which they have asked us to make directions, any 

comments on those? 

 45 
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MR STOKES:   Well yes, the concern is that they have actually outlined that 

they are not going to consider this, they are just going to have one 

package of New Neighbourhood Zones that goes right throughout and 

they are not going to define those where the zones have been half 

completed and half not. 5 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, perhaps it is a bit early to know exactly what they 

are coming up with.  I think they are working on it.  But in due course 10 

obviously like any other submitter you will have the opportunity as the 

McFarlane Family Trust would to present your position on all of those 

things in due course.  I take it in terms of the mechanics of organising 

for when evidence is exchanged and all those things and when the 

hearing may be anticipated you have got no further issues? 15 

 

MR STOKES:   No, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks Mr Stokes. 

 20 

MR STOKES:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So did any other party who did not lodge a 

memorandum have anything in regard to process that they wish us to be 

mindful of?  I will give that opportunity in just a couple of minutes for 25 

that sort of comment, bearing in mind memorandums were not filed.  

What is your comment, Mr Mora? 

 

MR MORA:   Yes sir, I am just wondering now that the LURP is out for 

submissions for a review of the LURP, where does that actually sit with 30 

this process? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  The Panel does not have the brief of making those 

determinations on the Land Use Recovery Plan. The Land Use 

Recovery Plan is relevant to us in the sense that under the Order in 35 

Council we are directed to give certain recognition to these sorts of 

statutory documents, and the Land Use Recovery Plan is also pretty 

relevant in how it has affected the substance of the Regional Policy 

Statement.  So it is in that substantive sense we look at it, Mr Mora, but 

we are not involved in hearing on that matter. 40 

 

MR MORA:   But then when the submissions - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, Mr Mora, I am going to come back to this.  On this 

particular New Neighbourhood Zone provisions, and the intention to 45 
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have a re-hearing in early January and the procedural directions 

proposed by the Council, do you have any specific comment or not? 

 

MR MORA:   No, not at this stage sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks Mr Mora.  Is there anything else?  Mr Prebble. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you sir, this is just in terms of the submissions by 

K Bush Limited and Brian Gillman. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Fundamentally the position of those submitters is that they 

support the matters but forward by Ms Semple and Ms Limmer.  In 

terms of the main points they do remain concerned about the process 15 

and the changes and uncertainty in the Council position, but in terms of 

that they accept that the Council as recommended by the Panel must 

take a leadership role in terms of the way forward, and with that said it 

is not convinced that the Council response today is that it is either 

willing or ready to take on a leadership role encouraged by both the 20 

Panel and the submitters, but ultimately that is a matter for 

Mr Winchester and his clients to take on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  The proof will be in the pudding, Mr Prebble, in due 

course, won’t it? 25 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sorry? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The proof will be in the pudding.  What comes before us. 

 30 

MR PREBBLE: Of course, of course. I am just setting out my client’s position.  

So in terms of steps forward, my clients therefore remain of the view 

that what is being proposed is a necessary step, so again I support the 

approach taken by Ms Semple and Ms Limmer, and that there is no 

easy solution, but the key aspects for the Panel in my submission must 35 

be that affected submitters have confidence in the process.  That is an 

issue that is being touched on, and this means that there is a clear 

understanding of the amended City Council position, and there is then a 

clear understanding as to the process that proceeds from that, which 

again seems to be a common theme of the responses that you have 40 

heard from the submitters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Mr Prebble that is probably about determinance and 

do you have any specific request for any changes to the directions that 

have been proposed by the Council? 45 
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MR PREBBLE:   No, no, no, no sorry, I was just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well thanks very much. 

 

MR PREBBLE:  Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Okay, well look thank you everyone, oh, yes, 

down the back.  Mr Taylor, sorry. 

 

MR TAYLOR:   Yes, sorry, one additional matter.  Not relating to the specific 10 

matter before you but relating to a related matter. 

 

 There are several submitters seeking rezoning from Rural to New 

Neighbourhood, who are currently set down to be heard in 

November/December with the Rural Zone provisions.  The current state 15 

of play is that submitters generally give evidence at both hearings for 

the receiving and the giving zone. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 20 

 We are going to be in a situation in November/December where we do 

not know what is happening with the New Neighbourhood Zone, yet 

we are having to submit to a hearing about a zone which is not 

finalised.  I was just wondering whether there might need to be some 

further direction in relation to the Rural Zone hearings to address that? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think you raise an interesting issue.  In terms of that 

timing it is a little bit problematic, but the standard approach which we 

have indicated in pre-hearing meetings is for parties in the situation that 

you describe, that they should consider attending both hearings in order 30 

to make sure their interests are looked after, while that might be 

frustrating, and on the basis that the Panel would make decisions 

mindful of the relevant evidence before it, whether it was in a prior 

hearing or the one it was dealing with the matter on.   

 35 

 In regard to the New Neighbourhood Zone matters though, the 

timetabling directions the Council has requested certainly do create an 

issue in regard to those parties in your situation.  

 

 Mr Winchester, do you have any thoughts on that, bearing in mind the 40 

Council has previously suggested to us that parties may be able to be 

dealt with once in one hearing. The Panel has resisted that logic a little 

bit, but is this an exception where there are certain clearly identifiable 

submitters in the situation described by Mr Taylor in the scheduled 

Rural Zone hearing that could be set aside to be dealt with safely in this 45 

later hearing, for their interests not to be prejudiced? 



 Page 39 

  

PHC:  New Neighbourhood Zone Provisions 18.08.15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry, I am thinking sort of off the cuff here, sir, and 

without instructions, but my submission is that, while it is not ideal, 

that I think that it is appropriate that the question of whether individual 

pieces of land are rezoned to New Neighbourhood is dealt with as part 5 

of the Rural hearing, and that the evidence is lead at that time, and it 

would then be an issue as to what, if anything, needs to be done in 

terms of New Neighbourhood zoning down the track.  But I think the 

distinction I would make, sir, is that in most instances we are not – with 

the existing New Neighbourhood provisions, we are not dealing with a 10 

question really as to whether the zoning is inappropriate, we have got 

effectively settled zones here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is the substance of the provisions that apply to those 

zones. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is the substance, it is the mechanics, and it is the 

substance which is at issue, whereas the point raised by Mr Taylor is 

somewhat different or the question is different, at a threshold level, 

should these areas of land be rezoned from Rural to New 20 

Neighbourhood, and then the secondary issue is how are they dealt 

with, so I think while it might be messy, that threshold question does 

need to be addressed as part of the Rural. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it may well put pretty clear light on the timing of any 25 

decisions at issue, perhaps the Rural Zone decisions timing needs to be 

considered carefully, bearing in mind submitters in this situation, their 

interests may not be fully known until we have heard New 

Neighbourhood. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I think that is right. It is an unfortunate 

consequence, but I do not really see a way around it, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Taylor, I know that is probably not thrilling news for 

your client to know that, like many other submitters, they are in a 35 

position of having to come along to more than one hearing, but 

certainly this is something the Panel will reflect on carefully.  There is 

likely to be different Panel configurations for Rural and this matter, and 

it may well be that there are entirely different Panel’s on each.  But as 

we discussed in other pre-hearing meetings, we are mindful of that and 40 

mindful of the timing of when our decisions should issue, bearing in 

mind that we may have to consider things that arise from hearings, like 

this New Neighbourhood one in your case, for ultimately the decisions 

made.  

 45 

  [11.45 am] 
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 But I think as Mr Winchester has indicated, part of your clients’ 

interests are in advising on why rural zoning is not appropriate for that 

land, and that is part of what we would need to hear in the Rural 

hearing, I think. 5 

 

MR TAYLOR:   We had anticipated the Rural hearing would be addressing 

those issues, probably the only issue which might be called into 

question is the level of detail that may be required if an ODP has to be 

submitted, and that will be resolved at a later point. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

 So at this stage I think what we will do is I’ll take a short recess just to 

compare notes with Ms Dawson on the nature of directions we should 15 

issue, and on the basis that we will issue a minute, which will set out a 

more full description of why we have got to where we have in terms of 

directions shortly, possibly in the next day or so, but the first thing I 

think we will do is to allow you to get away understanding what we are 

going to do in timing terms, but there are a couple variations to the 20 

timetable proposed that have come out from counsel and I want to 

make sure we reflect on those properly before advising you of that. 

 

 So a short recess until midday. 

 25 

ADJOURNED [11.46 am] 

 

RESUMED [12.03 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Winchester, I should give you a right of reply 30 

before I finalise these directions. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Not that many matters arising.  

 

 I note my learned friend Mr Carranceja has referred to the Crown’s 35 

submission in terms of that clause 13.4 issue, it is not determinative but 

I think the submission is sound, and we will take a closer look at that 

issue, and bearing in mind what the Panel’s ultimate directions are. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean we bear in mind that in the minute, as we 40 

have traversed, there is a chronology of positions, probably fair to say 

beginning with the Crown and other submissions being considered by 

relevant experts coming to views and then different views.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. Well, it probably does not deal with the process 45 

issues, it has certainly taken on board what Ms Semple has said about 
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Council and it is taking leadership, that is understood, that is accepted, 

that is precisely what it is intending to do, it just might do so in a way 

that doesn’t necessarily disenfranchise people, but it is absolutely 

accepted that it is the Council’s job to come up with a proposal and to 

put it out.  5 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As the minute also identified, encourage the Council to be 

confident about what it is seeking to put forward and promote in a 10 

leadership sense that it directly the role and function of the Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, understood and accepted.  That is the reason why 

Mr Macleod has been engaged, so he can essentially now have a look at 

the full picture and develop a proposal which is appropriate, bearing in 15 

mind stage 1 and stage 2 issues.  

 

 In terms of the scope issue, what is the scope of the New 

Neighbourhood provisions, are they in or are they out, I think we can 

probably assist by looking to have a memorandum filed, not necessarily 20 

by the end of the week, but possibly by close of business tomorrow if 

that assists the Panel and submitters. As I said, I have a draft already 

prepared and I just want to get that checked, but I think we should be 

able to file that by close of business tomorrow, that might assist in 

terms of - - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps parties coming back by Friday at 5.00 pm. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Exactly, sir, yes. That was my thinking. That is all I 

need to address the Panel on, unless there are any questions. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thanks very much, Mr Winchester. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Did you have a discussion about timing with Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I did.  Mr Carranceja and I have had a discussion 

and, bearing in mind Ms McIntyre’s responsibilities in the next couple 

of weeks, inevitably Mr Macleod will be doing the bulk of the drafting 40 

in any event, there is plenty he can get on with, and if there are any 

specific issues he needs to run past Ms McIntyre in the next couple of 

weeks he is well able to do that.  So we think the collaborative process 

can work quite effectively between the Crown and the Council without 

necessarily upsetting the suggested timetable.  45 
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 I suppose the issue is getting the formal statutory process completed 

this side of Christmas necessary, as Christmas is really just a 

psychological barrier, bearing in mind the Panel’s ability to finally 

having a hearing on this, or does it matter that perhaps the statutory 

process might spill over into the New Year.  So if it is considered more 5 

time is necessary or there isn’t such time pressure, then we are certainly 

quite content to have the dates pushed back a little. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I think we will do it on the basis that we will make 

directions on the timetable, but make it clear to the parties that we can 10 

entertain applications for modifications to those directions, noting the 

Crown’s position in that regard. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Content with that. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

 For reasons that will be set out in a minute that will issue following, we 

make directions for sequential evidence exchange and other matters 

generally as requested by the Council, with some modifications as 20 

requested by the parties on the basis that the parties can expect a 

hearing commencing early in 2016 to be scheduled. We will issue a 

notice of hearing in due course once we have worked out timing in 

regard to other anticipated hearing commitments in early 2016. 

 25 

 That hearing will address all New Neighbourhood Zone provisions for 

both stages 1 and 2, the Riccarton Racecourse New Neighbourhood 

Zone provisions, any other provisions in respect of which we make 

directions on application under clause 13.4 of the Order in Council, and 

any re-zonings pertaining to New Neighbourhood Zones. 30 

 

 If necessary, a further pre-hearing meeting will be scheduled for some 

time after 1 October 2015.  

 

 We direct as follows: By 5.00 pm, 19 August 2015, the Council will 35 

lodge and serve a memorandum identifying which provisions of 

Chapters 8 and 14 are to be covered by the New Neighbourhood Zone 

provisions.  

 

 (b) By 5.00 pm, Friday, 21 August 2015, any parties who wish to do so 40 

are to file a memorandum of Council with any comments on the 

Council’s memorandum. 

 

 (c) By 5.00 pm, 11 September 2015, the Council must lodge and serve 

a memorandum of Council, (1) setting out the Council’s updated New 45 

Neighbourhood Zone provisions, including the Riccarton Racecourse 



 Page 43 

  

PHC:  New Neighbourhood Zone Provisions 18.08.15 

New Neighbourhood Zone provisions; (2) identifying any other matters 

that are outstanding between the parties who have engaged with the 

Council; and (3) make any application for any clause 13.4 direction as 

to re-notification of stage 1 ODPs and any other out of scope 

provisions. 5 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

 (d) Any party who opposes any clause 13.4 application by the Council 

must file a memorandum of Council specifying grounds of opposition 10 

by 10.00 am, Monday, 14 September 2015. 

 

 (e) All parties who intend to call planning or other expert evidence 

must ensure experts are available for facilitated expert witness 

conferencing in respect of which a further minute as to timing will 15 

issue. 

 

 (f) Facilitated expert conferencing and any facilitated mediation will 

take place at sessions to be arranged with the facilitator, Commissioner 

Marlene Oliver.  20 

 

 (g) Evidence is to be filed and served sequentially as follows: (1) 

Council evidence-in-chief, including updated revisions and Section 32 

report by 5.00 pm, Friday, 4 December 2015; (2) Evidence-in-chief 

from other parties by 5.00 pm, Friday, 11 December 2015; (3) Rebuttal 25 

evidence by the Council and by any party of any other parties evidence 

by 5.00 pm, Friday, 18 December 2015.  

 

 Leave is granted for any party seeking further or other directions as will 

assist the fair and efficient rehearing of the New Neighbourhood Zone 30 

provisions, in particular the Crown’s observations about the need for 

adjustments to directions are noted.  

 

 In addition, further directions may issue from the Panel from time to 

time, and as I have noted that is likely to require a further pre-hearing 35 

meeting. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.12 pm] 40 


